

## CONSTITUTION

### INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF AUDIT BUREAUX OF CIRCULATIONS

#### 1. NAME

The name of the organization shall be International Federation of Audit Bureaux of Circulations (IFABC).

#### 2. IDENTITY

2.1 The IFABC is a Grouping of established audit organisations that verify and report facts about circulations of publications and other media-data.

2.2 The members of IFABC comprise the following:

Full Members as defined in clause 5.  
Affiliated Members as defined in clause 15.  
Associate Members as defined in clause 16.  
Reciprocity Members as defined in clause 17.

#### 3. OBJECTIVES

The objectives of the IFABC are:

- 3.1 To promote to advertisers, advertising agencies and media agencies and publishers worldwide the benefit of independent audit bureaux of circulations and the membership of IFABC.
- 3.2 To promote an ethical and acceptable business standard of conduct by the Members and encourage the greater standardization and uniformity in the process, procedure and format of reporting of circulations of publications and other media data.
- 3.3 To facilitate and encourage the exchange of facts, information, knowledge and experience among its members about circulations of publications and other media data.
- 3.4 To encourage the establishment of audit bureaux of circulations in countries where such bureaux do not exist and their membership of IFABC.
- 3.5 To co-operate with International organisations, suppliers and media in any way directly or indirectly connected with, or allied to, IFABC activities.

#### **4. DUTIES AND AIMS**

To achieve the objectives the IFABC shall undertake:

- 4.1 To facilitate the growth of audited circulation and other media data by introduction of the Members to local interested parties to either assist in the set-up of their own audit bureaux or provide audit services to local media.
- 4.2 To have a central information and resource centre for access by Members and relevant external organisations.
- 4.3 To maintain an IFABC website as a constructive information portal.
- 4.4 To have direct links to all Members from the headquarters of the IFABC.
- 4.5 To conduct research on behalf of the IFABC.
- 4.6 To handle all cross border, Regional and International enquiries from external sources.
- 4.7 To conduct International marketing programmes on behalf of the IFABC.
- 4.8 To be represented at relevant International forums and attend relevant International Organisations meetings on agreement by the Executive Board.
- 4.9 To generate and manage contacts with global advertisers, advertising agencies, media agencies and publishers.
- 4.10 To assist in the development of new Members.
- 4.11 To have access, upon request, from the headquarters of the IFABC to Member's current public information (excluding confidential procedures or information as determined by a Member) such as:
  - Rules and regulations.
  - Description of Members' organizational structure and listings of working parties/committees.
- 4.12 To perform such functions and directions as determined by the General Assembly of the IFABC from time to time.

## **5. FULL MEMBERSHIP**

Organisations that meet and maintain the following conditions and requirements shall be eligible for Full Membership of the IFABC.

A Full Member shall:

- 5.1 Have a tripartite membership of advertisers, advertising agencies/media agencies and publishers.
- 5.2 Determine its own definitions, terms, conditions and procedures for reporting circulations and other media within the sphere of their own activities.
- 5.3 Publish its standards and rules for Member bureau audits and procedures.
- 5.4 Perform independent auditing.
- 5.5 Have transparency in its process.
- 5.6 Issue circulation and/or other media data regularly.
- 5.7 Issue facts about circulations and other media without expressing any opinions.
- 5.8 Operate on the principles of 'not-for-profit'.
- 5.9 Have a Founding Document inclusive of these conditions and requirements.
- 5.10 Encourage membership and active participation in local audit bureaux by eligible advertisers, advertising agencies, publishers and other media agencies.
- 5.11 Furnish such information to the IFABC and other Members as reasonably requested by the IFABC headquarters and they shall not be obliged to furnish any such information which each Member considers confidential.
- 5.12 Use of the IFABC logo and or slogan wherever and whenever possible.
- 5.13 Notwithstanding the provisions of this clause, a General Assembly, on the recommendation of the Executive Board given that special circumstances exist, may grant Full Membership to an organisation that does not have tripartite participation.

## 6. APPLICATION FOR AND ACQUISITION OF FULL MEMBERSHIP STATUS

- 6.1 Applicants for membership in the iFABC should present the following to the IFABC President for review by appropriate regional group of IFABC members:
- 6.1.1 Application for Membership (Application for each class of membership shall be made on forms provided by IFABC)
- 6.1.2 The applicant shall include one letter from each of the following:
- A media owner
  - An advertising agency, and
  - An advertiser
- within the interested country stating the case for admission in the IFABC. A seconding letter from a media owner, advertising agency and advertiser shall accompany this letter of recommendation. (A letter from an association representing any of the three aforementioned shall be considered the equivalent of one letter and requires a second.)
- 6.1.3 An audit organization interested in becoming a Member of the IFABC should acknowledge having read the Constitution and By Laws and understanding of the same.
- 6.1.4 The applicant shall agree to abide by the Constitution and By Laws of the IFABC and all amendments and additions that may be made to them.
- 6.1.5 The applicant shall have complied with the Constitution and By Laws of the IFABC for one year before being eligible for IFABC Membership.
- 6.1.6 Each applicant should state in their letter of application how the audit organization conforms to the objectives of the IFABC as stated in Section 3 of the Constitution.
- 6.1.7 An audit organization applying for "Full Membership" should state in the application specifically how the organization complies with Section 5 of the Constitution (conditions and requirements for Full Membership).
- 6.2 Duly authorized representatives of the IFABC shall have the right of access, at any time, to all materials and records of applicants for membership as deemed necessary by the IFABC to determine eligibility for membership within the IFABC. Conditional on becoming a Member of the IFABC is the requirement that the member must agree to continue to grant right of access by duly authorized representatives of the IFABC to all materials and records of the member as deemed necessary by the IFABC to determine continued eligibility for Membership within IFABC.
- 6.3 Upon receipt of an application, the IFABC President shall cause a review to be made of the applicant's information in accordance with the Constitution and By Laws of the IFABC. The IFABC President shall screen the application and submit it to the appropriate Regional Group of the IFABC. The Regional Group shall, within a reasonable time after the receipt of the application, request a personal appearance by the applicant before the regional group which shall comment whether the applicant's information is adequate for a determination of whether or not membership should be granted in accordance with the standards and requirements of the IFABC.
- 6.4 If the applicant's information is adequate, the applicant will be provided with letters from two members organizations of the Regional Group proposing the applicant for membership in the IFABC.
- 6.5 If the applicant's information is inadequate, the Regional Group shall request the applicant to provide the missing information or additional information as may be required. If the applicant refuses to do so within the time limits imposed, or if the application is withdrawn, the application shall be automatically be rejected by the IFABC.

- 6.6 Upon the completion of the Regional Group's review the IFABC President shall submit the application for membership to the Executive Board together with the report on the findings of the application review and the recommendation for, or against, the application for membership.
- 6.7 No applicant shall be accepted for Membership until the application has been approved by a simple majority of the Full Members of the IFABC.
- 6.8 If, upon presentation to the Executive Board or the Full Membership, any member finds the applicant's information is inadequate or in violation of the Constitution or By Laws, the IFABC President shall be informed and shall request the applicant to provide the missing information, explanation or additional information as may be required. If the applicant refuses to do so, or has failed to do so within the time limits imposed by the IFABC President, or if the application is withdrawn, the application shall automatically be rejected by the IFABC.
- 6.9 An applicant may not publicize the fact that they have applied for Membership. Whenever reference is made in the Constitution and By Laws to a Member, the provision of the Constitution and By Laws shall equally to applicants for membership.

## **7. SUSPENSION, TERMINATION AND READMISSION OF FULL MEMBERSHIP**

The General Assembly, by two-thirds vote, shall suspend or terminate the membership of any Full Member who has been found by the Executive Board to have breached the provisions of this constitution or By-laws.

- 7.2 A Member whose membership has been suspended shall during such suspension:
- 7.2.1 Not be entitled to attend a General Assembly.
  - 7.2.2 Not be entitled to vote on any General Assembly resolutions.
  - 7.2.3 Cease to be a member of the Executive Board.
  - 7.2.4 Cease using the IFABC logo and not represent that it is a member of the IFABC.
  - 7.2.5 Cease using IFABC resources.
  - 7.2.6 Have its name removed from the IFABC listings.
  - 7.2.7 Have its suspension posted on the IFABC website.
- 7.3 A Member whose membership has been suspended or terminated may upon written application be readmitted to membership in accordance with:
- 7.3.1 Review by the President.
  - 7.3.2 Recommendation by the Executive Board, being satisfied that the Member has removed or rectified the cause for such suspension or termination.
  - 7.3.3 Approval by a two-thirds majority in a vote by post or in person by Full Members after a ten-day review period during which any comments received are to be distributed to the Full Members.

## **8. GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF MEMBERS**

- 8.1 The General Assembly is the supreme governing authority of IFABC and is constituted by the Full Members.
- 8.2 A General Assembly of Members shall be held bi-annually at a time and place set by the Executive Board.
- 8.3 An Extraordinary General Assembly of Members may be convened at any time on a resolution by five full members of the Executive Board or by a majority of the Bureaux in membership.
- 8.4 A quorum shall consist of one third of the Full Members present and or by proxy at the meeting. In the event of a quorum not being present within thirty minutes of the allotted time for the meeting the meeting shall stand adjourned for forty-eight hours at the same place. The full members present at such adjourned meeting shall constitute a quorum.
- 8.5 The failure by a Full Member to receive a notice posted to it convening a General Assembly or the failure by the representative of the Full Member to receive a copy of such notice posted to such full member shall not invalidate the General Assembly.
- 8.6 Each Full Member present personally or by proxy shall have one vote provided such Full Member's subscriptions are paid up to date.
- 8.7 All decisions shall be taken by a simple majority of votes unless otherwise provided in the Constitution or the By-laws. A confidential ballot may be demanded by a majority of Full Members present and by proxy.
- 8.8 In the event that the Executive Board decides that an issue is sufficiently urgent to require a decision of a General Assembly and that the IFABC would suffer prejudice by following the stated procedure to convene a General Assembly, the Executive Board shall be entitled to submit a resolution to the Full Members for their consideration by posting to the Full Members the proposed resolution accompanied by the relevant voting papers.
- Only voting papers which are properly completed and signed by a duly authorized representative of the Full Member and received by the Secretariat within 30 days of the date of posting the resolution to the Full Members shall be counted and all voting papers subsequently received shall be invalid.
- Voting papers shall not be counted and accordingly the resolution shall not be passed unless valid voting papers are received on time from not less than one third of the Full Members.
- 8.9 The election of the Executive Board at a General Assembly shall be by confidential ballot unless otherwise agreed unanimously by the Full Members present or by proxy at the General Assembly

**9. EXECUTIVE BOARD**

- 9.1 The Executive Board shall administer, manage, and control the affairs of the IFABC including the location, selection and program for the General Assembly..
- 9.2 The Executive Board shall be comprised of eight elected Executive members nominated by and representing the Full Members according to the following:

<u>Circulation Level</u>	<u>Executive Members</u>
50 000 001+	2
25 000 001/50 000 000	1
10 000 001/25 000 000	1
1 000 000/10 000 000	1

Three additional Executive members are to be nominated without restriction; however there must be one director from each regional grouping.

A Full Member may nominate as its representative for election as an Executive Board Member a person representing a Full Member from another distribution category.

“Circulation level” shall be defined as follows: “The latest total average audited circulation of all print titles measured by the bureau.”

- 9.3 Membership categories shall remain in force until the next General Assembly.
- 9.4 The Full Members shall at the General Assembly elect a President from the members of the Executive Board.
- 9.5 The Executive Board shall appoint an Honorary Treasurer from the members of the Executive Board.
- 9.6 The Executive Board shall hold office for a period of two years until the next General Assembly.
- 9.7 Should a casual vacancy occur on the Executive Board such vacancy may be filled by the Executive Board co opting a person representing a Full Member from the same category to fill such vacancy.
- 9.8 The members of the Executive Board shall not receive any remuneration for their services.  
  
A member of the Executive Board however, may receive financial assistance from the IFABC to cover such member’s expenses necessarily incurred provided the Executive Board is satisfied on receipt of a properly motivated written request that due to financial constraints of the Full Member represented by such member of the Executive Board such financial assistance is justified.
- 9.10 A quorum for all meetings of the Executive Board shall be five members in person or by telephone or video link. Resolutions at such meetings shall be passed by simple majority vote.
- 9.11 A resolution signed by all the members of the Executive Board shall be deemed to be a resolution passed by the Executive Board at a duly constituted meeting.
- 9.12 Should one third of the members present at the meeting of the Executive Board cast dissenting votes against any resolution passed by the Executive Board, a dissenting member shall be entitled to refer the resolution of the Executive Board to the Full Members for ratification.

Such dissenting member shall lodge a notice of referral to the Full Members with the Secretariat and President within five days of the resolution.

The minutes of the meeting, including the resolution and notice of the referral, shall immediately be sent to the full members by post.

A decision made by a majority of the Full Members whose replies have been received within twenty one days of the date of posting the notice of referral to the Full Members by the Secretariat and President shall be final and binding on the Executive Board.

- 9.13 A member of the Executive Board shall not be entitled to attend any Executive Board Meetings and shall not have a vote on any Executive Board resolutions during any period that the subscriptions or levies of the Full Member whom the member of the Executive Board is representing remain unpaid.

## **10. DUTIES OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD**

- 10.1 The Executive Board shall ensure the proper functioning of the IFABC and that the objects referred to in clause 3 and the duties and aims referred to in clause 4 are given effect to and implemented.
- 10.2 The Executive Board shall assess candidates and recommend the appointment of the candidate they think best to fulfil the duties of a Secretariat for such period and on such terms as it may recommend to the General Assembly for ratification.
- 10.3 The Executive Board shall be entitled to delegate such of its duties and aims to the Secretariat as it may determine.
- 10.4 Without limiting the general authority given to it and without limiting its authority of delegation to the Secretariat the Executive Board shall:
- 10.4.1 Make, vary and rescind rules and regulations and take all such action consistent with this constitution for the management and control of the affairs of IFABC.
  - 10.4.2 When and where considered necessary, engage employees and professional advisors for IFABC.
  - 10.4.3 Arbitrate on any disputes between Full Members of IFABC on matters related directly or indirectly to their membership of the IFABC on such Full Members written request but without prejudice to any legal remedies or rights of such Full Members.
  - 10.4.4 Generally give effect to and implement any decisions or directives given by a General Assembly.
- 10.5 For the purpose of determining the categories of Full Members for election to the Executive Board, the Executive Board shall, in advance of the General Assembly, allocate the Full Members into the categories based on the circulation level as defined in 9.2.
- 10.6 The Executive Board shall meet at least once per annum.

## **11. SUBSCRIPTIONS**

- 11.1 The subscriptions payable by Full Members shall be determined by the General Assembly from time to time.
- 11.2 For the purpose of determining the subscriptions payable by each full Member, the Executive Board shall in advance of the General Assembly, divide the Full Members into the categories based on the circulation level as determined by the Executive Board from time to time.
- 11.3 Subscription invoices shall be posted to the members by the 1<sup>st</sup> December each year. Payment of such invoices shall be made by the 31<sup>st</sup> January of the following year. All subscriptions unpaid by the 31<sup>st</sup> January shall bear interest calculated from the 31<sup>st</sup> January to date of payment at a rate of interest as determined by the Executive Board from time to time.
- 11.4 Notwithstanding the provisions of 11.3 the Executive Board may, on written application by a Member, in its sole discretion determine on good cause shown, grant special consideration or dispensation to the Member.
- 11.5 Notwithstanding clause 7, should the Member fail to pay its subscription on the due date, the Executive Board, upon unsatisfactory explanation for the lateness, shall be entitled to suspend such Member until payment of the subscription and outstanding interest is received. Notice of such suspension shall be posted to the Members.
- 11.6 Notwithstanding clause 7, the Executive Board shall in its discretion be entitled to reinstate the membership of a Member suspended under clause 11.6 upon the payment of all subscription and interest outstanding by the Member.

## **12. HEADQUARTERS OF THE IFABC AND DUTIES OF THE SECRETARIAT AND HONORARY TREASURER**

- 12.1 The headquarters of the IFABC shall be situated at the place designated by the General Assembly.
- 12.2 The Secretariat shall perform such functions as determined or delegated by the Executive Board from time to time to give effect to objectives set out in clause 3 and the duties and aims of the IFABC set out in clause 4.
- 12.3 A budget which shall include the appropriate subscriptions for each of the next two years shall be prepared by the Secretariat and President for presentation to the Executive Board which, upon approval, will submit the budget to the Full Membership for their approval.
- 12.4 The President shall be responsible for the operation of the business of the IFABC in accordance with the budget, and the instructions and directions of the Executive Board as determined from time to time.
- 12.5 The financial year of the IFABC shall be 1<sup>st</sup> January to 31<sup>st</sup> December.
- 12.6 The Honorary Treasurer shall be responsible for the operation of the budget, the custody and the investment of the funds of the IFABC in accordance with instructions and directions of the Executive Board and the submission of subscription invoices. The Honorary Treasurer is authorised to disburse such funds including the disbursement of funds to the Secretariat to pay future expenses and to discharge the expenses incurred in the operation of the IFABC.
- 12.7 The Honorary Treasurer shall submit to the Executive Board quarterly reports on the financial affairs of the IFABC within three weeks of the end of each quarter or on request of the Executive Board.

- 12.8 The Honorary Treasurer shall submit to the Executive Board by the 31<sup>st</sup> March each year the Annual Financial Statements duly audited by an independent Auditor.
- 12.9 The Secretariat shall post to the Full Members copies of the minutes of each Executive meeting within 21 days of the date of the meeting and a copy of the quarterly report on the financial affairs of the IFABC within 21 days of receipt of the report from the Honorary Treasurer.
- 12.10 The Honorary Treasurer shall be an independent position from the President.

### **13. REGIONAL GROUPINGS**

- 13.1 Regional Groupings may be established with the prior approval of the Executive Board
- 13.2 The Regional Groupings shall implement and develop the objectives and aims of the IFABC in accordance with the provisions of this constitution.
- 13.3 The President shall be an ex officio Member of each Regional Grouping. The President may attend regional meetings by invitation of the Regional Grouping and shall have the right to attend regional meetings of the Regional Grouping at the President's discretion.
- 13.4 The full costs of the President's attendance will be borne by:
  - 13.4.1 The Regional Group, if the attendance is at the invitation of the Regional Group.
  - 13.4.2 The IFABC, if the attendance is at the discretion of the President .
- 13.5 The Regional Grouping shall submit minutes of its meetings to the Secretariat and the Executive Board.

### **14. INSIGNIA**

- 14.1 The insignia (logo form or other identity) and slogan of the IFABC will be determined by the General Assembly from time to time.
- 14.2 The IFABC insignia and slogan shall only be used and displayed by Full Members or such other Members or organisations duly authorised thereto by the Executive Board.
- 14.3 In addition to each bureau's own insignia, each Full Member shall be encouraged to use and display the IFABC insignia and/or slogan on all correspondence, documents, internet pages and all forms of advertising material used by the Member.
- 14.4 Should a Member cease to be a member of the IFABC such member shall immediately cease using the IFABC insignia and/or slogan and shall immediately destroy all letterheads and other printed documents, internet pages and all forms of advertising material used by the Member reflecting such insignia and/or slogan.

## **15. AFFILIATED MEMBERS**

The Executive Board shall be entitled to admit as an Affiliated Member an organisation which does not fully comply with the requirements of Full Membership but which has an interest in the objectives of the IFABC and intends to develop and maintain an ongoing relationship with the IFABC.

The application for Affiliated Membership shall be made in writing in the form and on conditions stipulated by the Executive Board from time to time.

The Executive Board shall determine the annual subscription payable by the Affiliated Member.

Affiliated Membership shall be suspended or terminated by notice in writing given by either the Executive Board or the Associate Member to the other party.

An Affiliated Member shall be entitled to attend a General Assembly but shall not be entitled to a vote.

## **16. ASSOCIATE MEMBERS**

16.1 The Executive Board shall be entitled to admit as an Associate Member an organisation which is closely aligned to the industries the Full Membership serve or are closely associated with in the conduct of their business. As an example such membership could include paper suppliers, machinery and ink suppliers, global advertising agencies and a wide spectrum of others.

16.2 The application for Associate Membership shall be made in writing in the form and on conditions stipulated by the Executive Board from time to time.

16.3 The Executive Board shall determine the annual subscription payable by the Associate Member.

16.4 Associated Membership shall be suspended or terminated by notice in writing given by either the Executive Board or the Associate Member to the other party.

16.5 An Associate member shall be entitled to attend a General Assembly but shall not be entitled to a vote.

## **17. RECIPROCITY MEMBER**

17.1 The Executive Board shall be entitled to admit as a Reciprocity Member other similar industry organisations with similar interests.

17.2 The application for Reciprocity Membership shall be made in writing in the form and on conditions stipulated by the Executive Board from time to time.

17.3 There shall be no annual subscription payable by the Reciprocity Member.

17.4 Reciprocity Membership shall be suspended or terminated by notice in writing given by either the Executive Board or the Reciprocity Member to the other party.

17.5 A Reciprocity Member shall be entitled to attend a General Assembly but shall not be entitled to a vote.

**18. AMENDMENT TO CONSTITUTION AND BY-LAWS**

- 18.1 No amendment of this constitution shall be of any force and effect unless passed by a two-thirds majority of Full Members present or proxy at a General Assembly.
- 18.2 No amendment to the By-laws shall be of any force or effect unless passed by a simple majority of Full Members present or by proxy at a General Assembly.
- 18.3 The IFABC shall only be dissolved by a two-thirds majority of Full Members present or by proxy at a General Assembly and the balance of the funds shall be paid as determined by the General Assembly.

**19. BY-LAWS**

The General Assembly shall establish and amend By-laws to this Constitution from time to time.

**20. INTERPRETATION**

Should any doubt or dispute arise as to the interpretation of this Constitution or the By-laws it shall be decided by the Executive Board, with right of appeal to the General Assembly, whose decision shall be final and binding.

## **BYLAWS TO THE CONSTITUTION**

### **INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF AUDIT BUREAUX OF CIRCULATIONS**

#### **1. GENERAL ASSEMBLY AND AGENDA**

- 1.1 Notice convening a General Assembly shall be posted by the Secretariat to Members and to the representatives of the Members (if any) not less than 60 days prior to the date of the General Assembly.
- 1.2 The notice shall state the date, time and place of the proposed General Assembly.
- 1.3 A Proxy form to vote by Full Members unable to attend the meeting personally shall accompany the notice convening the meeting.
- 1.4 A proxy shall be signed by a duly authorized representative of the Full Member and presented at the General Assembly. There shall be no limit as to the number of proxies a Full Member may receive.
- 1.5 A Full Member shall notify the Secretariat in writing at the commencement of the General Assembly the name of the person, (and the alternate, if relevant) who will represent the Full Member at the General Assembly.
- 1.6 Notice of any resolution to be proposed at a General Assembly shall be submitted to the Secretariat not less than 40 days prior to the date of the General Assembly.
- 1.7 The Agenda and relevant documents for the General Assembly shall be posted to Members not less than 30 days prior to the date of the General Assembly.
- 1.8 The Executive Board in conjunction with the Secretariat will be responsible for the preparation of the agenda setting out the IFABC business to be conducted at the General Assembly. It shall comprise the following:
  - 1.8.1 Apologies.
  - 1.8.2 Declaration and record of proxies.
  - 1.8.3 To receive the minutes of the previous General Assembly.
  - 1.8.4 Business arising from the Minutes.
  - 1.8.5 To receive the report by the President.
  - 1.8.6 To receive a report prepared by the Secretariat on the activity of the Executive Board since the last General Assembly.
  - 1.8.7 To receive and approve the financial statements and financial report prepared by the Honorary Treasurer on the preceding two years.
  - 1.8.8 To receive the written activity report by each Member as submitted to the Secretariat.
  - 1.8.9 To elect any new Members into each category.

- 1.8.10 To receive the business plan and budgets prepared by the Secretariat for each of the next two years.
  - 1.8.11 To approve the subscriptions of Full Members payable by each category for each of the next two years as recommended by the Executive Board.
  - 1.8.12 To elect the Executive Board.
  - 1.8.13 To elect the President from the Executive Board.
  - 1.8.14 To transact any business of which due notice has been given in terms of 1.7.
  - 1.8.15 To discuss any matter arising not covered in this agenda.
  - 1.8.16 Any other business.
- 1.9 The theme and the rest of the General Assembly business and social activities, speakers/presenters will be decided by the Executive Board with the optional assistance of the location country's Bureau.

## **2. NOMINATION OF MEMBERS FOR ELECTION TO THE EXECUTIVE BOARD**

- 2.1 Not less than 60 days prior to the next General Assembly the Secretariat shall post to each Full Member and to the representative of each Full Member, nomination forms for the election of the Executive Board together with a schedule stating the category of each Full Member for the purpose of the election.
- 2.2 The Nomination form stating the name of the candidates and the category for the candidates' election to the Executive Board signed by the duly authorized representative of the Full Member shall be lodged with the Secretariat not less than 40 days prior to the date of the General Assembly.
- 2.3 Not less than 30 days prior to the date of the General Assembly the Secretariat shall post to the Full Members, and the representatives of the Full Members the General Assembly agenda, a notice stating the names of each person nominated for election, the category nominated for, and the Full Member making such nomination.

### **3. ELECTION OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD**

- 3.1 The Executive Board shall be comprised of eight members, as stated in the Constitution, elected from nominations received from Full Members. Each Full Member shall be entitled to nominate up to eight candidates but shall not exceed the number of nominations allocated to each category.
- 3.2 Each Full Member shall be entitled to one vote for each position vacant on the Executive Board. Voting shall be for the circulation categories first, followed by the general categories.
- 3.3 In the event that less than the requisite number of Full Members are nominated in a category, nominations for such vacancy may be made from the floor to elect a person representing a Full Member from such category and failing such nominations the Executive Board elected by that General Assembly shall subsequently be entitled to co-opt a person representing a Full Member from such category to fill such vacancy until the next General Assembly.
- 3.4 All voting for the Executive Board shall be by confidential ballot unless otherwise unanimously agreed by the members actually present at the General Assembly.
- 3.5 The President shall act as chairman of the General Assembly and meetings of the Executive Board. At any meeting, the Members of the Executive Board shall elect from their number a temporary Chairman in the absence of the President.

|